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Management's Responsibility

To the Members of Sunova Credit Union Limited:

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, including
responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
ensuring that all information in the annual report is consistent with the statements. This responsibility includes selecting appropriate
accounting principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is
required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial statements, management designs and
maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements.

The Board of Directors and Audit Committee are composed of Directors who are neither management nor employees of the Credit
Union. The Board is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial reporting responsibilities, and for
approving the financial statements and financial information included in the annual report. The Audit Committee has the responsibility of
meeting with management and external auditors to discuss the internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing matters
and financial reporting issues. The Committee is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the Credit Union's external
auditors.

MNP LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Professional Accountants, is appointed by the members to audit the consolidated financial
statements and report directly to them; their report follows. The external auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically and
separately with, both the Committee and management to discuss their audit findings.

[Signed by management]

[Chief Executive Officer, or other senior officer]

 [Signed by management]

[Chief Financial Officer, or other senior officer]



Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Sunova Credit Union Limited: 

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sunova Credit Union Limited (the "Credit Union"), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018, and the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive
income, changes in members' equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of the Credit Union as at December 31, 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Credit Union in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The comparative figures as at December 31, 2017 were audited by another firm of Chartered Professional Accountants who expressed
an unqualified opinion in their report dated April 19, 2018.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The annual report is expected to be made
available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the
matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Credit Union’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Credit Union or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Credit Union’s financial reporting process.



Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Credit Union’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the

Credit Union’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw

attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Credit Union to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Winnipeg, Manitoba

March 22, 2019 Chartered Professional Accountants



Sunova Credit Union Limited
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2018

2018 2017

Assets
Funds on hand and on deposit 42,666,284 50,547,506
Investments and accrued interest (Note 6) 159,081,861 111,673,049
Members' loans receivable and accrued interest (Note 7) 1,771,821,143 1,392,016,458
Other assets (Note 8) 5,492,357 2,921,904
Investment properties (Note 9) 12,005,000 11,590,000
Property and equipment (Note 10) 35,629,942 33,373,505
Intangible assets (Note 11) 1,485,067 1,770,619
Goodwill (Note 12) 10,013,713 10,037,857
Derivative financial instrument (Note 13) 9,632 -
Deferred tax assets (Note 14) - 275,603

2,038,204,999 1,614,206,501

Liabilities
Members' savings and deposits (Note 15) 1,796,539,807 1,390,141,096
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 6,689,991 7,886,736
Income taxes payable (Note 14) 737,660 132,833
Loan payable (Note 16) 10,000,000 75,000,000
Securitization liabilities (Note 17) 99,023,034 38,315,259
Derivative financial instrument (Note 13) - 134,839
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 14) 2,982,000 2,677,748

1,915,972,492 1,514,288,511

Contingencies  (Note 26)

Members' equity
Member shares (Note 18) 35,005,257 30,119,218
Retained surplus 76,775,367 69,798,772
Contributed surplus (Note 5) 10,451,883 -

122,232,507 99,917,990

2,038,204,999 1,614,206,501

Approved on behalf of the Board

"signed" "signed"
Director Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Sunova Credit Union Limited
Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income

For the year ended December 31, 2018

2018 2017

Interest income
Interest on member loans 59,641,609 46,727,994
Investment income (Note 6) 3,137,720 2,871,210

62,779,329 49,599,204

Cost of funds
Interest paid to members 30,954,827 21,761,320
Interest on loans payable 1,584,288 315,403

32,539,115 22,076,723

Financial margin 30,240,214 27,522,481

Other income (Note 27) 13,106,632 11,804,962
Provision for doubtful loans (Note 7) (1,198,058) (2,041,242)
Net gain on fair value adjustment of investment properties (Note 9) 415,000 297,162

Financial margin and other income after provision for doubtful loans 42,563,788 37,583,363

Operating expenses
Administration 6,933,224 5,280,509
Member security 1,359,752 1,185,332
Occupancy 4,479,830 4,106,989
Organizational 785,745 769,180
Personnel 17,861,427 16,642,899

Operating expenses 31,419,978 27,984,909

Income before income taxes 11,143,810 9,598,454

Provision for income taxes
Current (Note 14) 2,234,000 1,201,649
Deferred (Note 14) 752,855 -

Provision for income taxes 2,986,855 1,201,649

Income and comprehensive income for the year 8,156,955 8,396,805

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Sunova Credit Union Limited
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Members’ Equity

For the year ended December 31, 2018

Members'
shares

Contributed
surplus

Retained
surplus Total equity

Balance December 31, 2016 26,119,032 - 62,487,238 88,606,270

Income and comprehensive income - - 8,396,805 8,396,805

Issuance of common shares, net of redemptions 4,041,755 - - 4,041,755

Redemption of surplus shares, net of issuances (41,569) - - (41,569)

Provision for issue of common and surplus shares - - (1,085,271) (1,085,271)

Balance December 31, 2017 30,119,218 - 69,798,772 99,917,990

Income and comprehensive income - - 8,156,955 8,156,955

Issuance of common shares, net of redemptions 1,758,383 - - 1,758,383

Issuance of surplus shares, net of redemptions 991,051 - - 991,051
Provision for issue of common and surplus shares, net of
tax savings of $210,000 - - (1,180,360) (1,180,360)

Business combination (Note 5) 2,136,605 10,451,883 - 12,588,488

Balance December 31, 2018 35,005,257 10,451,883 76,775,367 122,232,507

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Sunova Credit Union Limited
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2018

2018 2017

Operating activities
Interest received from members’ loans 59,125,381 46,427,496
Interest received from investments 3,002,955 2,846,035
Net operating expenses (20,545,136) (13,421,879)
Interest paid on deposits (27,389,675) (22,110,164)
Interest paid on borrowed money (1,584,288) (315,403)
Income taxes paid (1,383,817) (1,737,880)

11,225,420 11,688,205

Financing activities
Proceeds from loan payable - 75,000,000
Repayments of loan payable (70,301,061) -
Net change in members' savings and deposits 197,999,409 109,943,263
Net proceeds from securitization of mortgages 60,707,775 12,660,436
Proceeds from issuance of member shares 5,634,422 3,241,767
Redemption of member shares (4,275,348) (326,852)

189,765,197 200,518,614

Investing activities
Net change in members’ loans receivable (180,295,237) (198,640,681)
Net purchase of investments (30,731,741) (16,412,361)
Purchases of property, equipment and intangible assets (965,003) (991,748)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 50,139 105,546
Purchase price adjustment related to goodwill 24,144 -
Investment properties additions - (7,838)

(211,917,698) (215,947,082)

Funds on hand and on deposit acquired in business combination (Note 5) 3,045,859 -

Decrease in cash resources (7,881,222) (3,740,263)
Funds on hand and on deposit, beginning of year 50,547,506 54,287,769

Funds on hand and on deposit, end of year 42,666,284 50,547,506

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Sunova Credit Union Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018

1. Reporting entity

Sunova Credit Union Limited (the “Credit Union”) was formed pursuant to the Credit Union Incorporations Act of Manitoba
and its operations are subject to the Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires Act (Manitoba) (“the Act”) and operates fifteen
Credit Union branches in the City of Winnipeg and surrounding municipalities and a virtual division under the trade name
Hubert Financial. The address of the Credit Union's registered office is 233 Main Street, Selkirk, Manitoba, Canada.

The consolidated financial statements of the Credit Union as at and for the year ended December 31, 2018 comprise the
Credit Union and its wholly owned subsidiaries Sunova Financial Services Inc., which holds various investments in
associates in insurance brokerages and agencies, and Sunova Property Holdings Ltd., which holds real estate investment
property. Together, these entities are referred to as the Credit Union. 

The Credit Union operates as one segment principally in retail, commercial and investment banking services in Manitoba.
Operating branches are similar in terms of products and services provided, methods used to distribute products and
services, types of customers and the nature of the regulatory environment.

The Credit Union conducts its principal operations through its branches, offering products and services including deposit
business, individual lending and commercial lending. The deposit business provides a wide range of deposit and investment
products and sundry financial services to all members. The lending business provides a variety of credit products and
services designed specifically for each particular group of borrowers.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The Credit Union presents its statement of financial position on a non-classified basis in order of liquidity, with a distinction
based on expectations regarding recovery or settlement within twelve months after the year end date (current) and more
than twelve months after the year end date (non-current). The Credit Union classified its expenses by the nature of the
expenses method.

These financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 were approved by the Board of Directors on March 22,
2019.

2. Change in accounting policies

The Credit Union adopted the following new and/or revised standards, effective January 1, 2018. As indicated, adoption of
the following new and/or revised standards, had a material impact on the Credit Union’s financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial instruments

Effective January 1, 2018 (hereafter referred to as the “initial date of application”), the Credit Union adopted IFRS 9  as
issued in July 2014. The requirements of IFRS 9 are substantially different from those of IAS 39 Financial instruments:
recognition and measurement. The new standard fundamentally alters the classification and measurement of financial
assets subsequent to initial recognition, including impairment and incorporates a new hedge accounting model.

The key changes to the Credit Union’s accounting policies resulting from adoption of IFRS 9 are summarized below.

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

IFRS 9 requires financial assets be classified into one of three subsequent measurement categories: amortized cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, or fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"). Classification is based on the
business model under which a financial asset is managed and the nature of its contractual cash flows. IFRS 9 eliminates
the following IAS 39 classification categories: available-for-sale, held-to-maturity, and loans and receivables.

Derivatives embedded within host contracts that are financial assets in the scope of IFRS 9 are no longer separated from
the host contract. Instead, the whole hybrid contract is assessed for classification in accordance with the above
requirements.

The classification and measurement of financial liabilities is largely retained from IAS 39. However, under IAS 39, all fair
value changes of liabilities designated under the fair value option were recognized in profit or loss. Under IFRS 9, the
amount of change in fair value attributable to the Credit Union’s own credit risk is generally required to be presented in other
comprehensive income.
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Sunova Credit Union Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018

2. Change in accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

Impairment of financial assets

IFRS 9 replaces the methodology under IAS 39 and IAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets of
recognizing impairment losses when incurred with a forward-looking expected credit loss model which requires a more
timely recognition of losses expected to occur over the contractual life of the financial asset. IFRS 9 uses a single model for
recognizing impairment losses on financial assets. This model also applies to certain loan commitments, financial
guarantee contracts, trade receivables and contract assets. Application of the IFRS 9 model results in earlier recognition of
impairment losses than under IAS 39. Equity investments are no longer assessed for impairment as all equity investments
are measured at fair value.

Transition

In accordance with the transitional provisions provided in IFRS 9, the Credit Union has applied the changes in accounting
policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 retrospectively but has elected not to restate comparative figures. All
comparative information presented and disclosed for the prior year reflects the requirements of IAS 39. Differences in the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognized directly in
retained surplus and reserves as at January 1, 2018. There were no differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 as at January 1, 2018. Additional transitional provisions applied
are described below. 

Classification and measurement

For the purposes of determining the classification of financial assets, the business model test has been applied on the basis
of facts and circumstances existing at the date of initial application with the resulting classification applied retrospectively.

Impairment

The credit risk at the date that a financial asset was initially recognized or, for loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts, the date that the entity became a party to the irrevocable commitment, has been determined on the basis of
reasonable and supportable information available without undue cost or effort. This has been compared to the credit risk at
the date of initial application for the purpose of determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
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Sunova Credit Union Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018

2. Change in accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

Initial application of IFRS 9

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities on the date of initial application of IFRS 9

The following tables present the measurement categories and carrying amounts under IAS 39 as at December 31, 2017
and the new measurement categories and carrying amounts under IFRS 9 for the Credit Union’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as at January 1, 2018.

Sub-note
IAS 39

classification
IFRS 9

classification

IAS 39 carrying
amount

IFRS 9 carrying
amount

Financial assets
Funds on hand and on
deposit

FVTPL
(mandatory)

FVTPL
(mandatory) 50,547,506 50,547,506

Members' loans receivable 1
Loans and

receivables
Amortized

cost 1,392,016,458 1,392,016,458
Credit Union Central of
Manitoba term deposits 2

Loans and
receivables

FVTPL
(mandatory) 98,011,408 98,011,408

Shares in Credit Union
Central of Manitoba 3

Available-for-
sale

FVTPL
(mandatory) 8,995,635 8,995,635

Other investments
Held to

maturity
Amortized

cost 4,666,006 4,666,006

Total financial assets 1,554,237,013 1,554,237,013

Financial liabilities
Members' savings and
deposits

Amortized
cost

Amortized
cost 1,390,141,096 1,390,141,096

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities

Amortized
cost

Amortized
cost 7,886,736 7,886,736

Securitization liabilities
Amortized

cost
Amortized

cost 38,315,259 38,315,259
Derivative financial
instrument 4

FVTPL
(designated)

FVTPL
(mandatory) 134,839 134,839

Total financial liabilities 1,436,477,930 1,436,477,930

Application of the accounting policies adopted on the date of initial application of IFRS 9 resulted in the reclassifications as
set out in the table above and explained below:

Sub-note 1 – As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, members' loans receivables were reclassified out of the loans and
receivables category and into the amortized category. This reclassification occurred as the member's loan receivables
consist solely of payments of principal and interest and the Credit Union has determined that they are held within a
business model for which the objective is to hold assets for contractual cash flows.

Sub-note 2 –  As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, Credit Union Central of Manitoba term deposits were reclassified
out of the loans and receivables category and into the fair value through profit and loss (mandatory) category. This
reclassification occurred as the contractual cash flows of the term deposits do not represent unpaid amounts of
principal and interest.

Sub-note 3 –  As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, Shares in Credit Union Central of Manitoba were reclassified out of
the available-for-sale category and into the fair value through profit and loss (mandatory) category. This reclassification
occurred since the contractual terms of the shares give rise to equity risk.
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Sunova Credit Union Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018

2. Change in accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

Sub-note 4 –  As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, interest rate swaps were reclassified out of the fair value through
profit and loss (designated) category and into the fair value through profit and loss (mandatory) category. This
reclassification occurred as the contractual cash flows of the interest rate swaps do not consist solely of payments of
principal and interest. Rather, cash flows are based on the change in underlying interest rates.

Any reclassification did not result in any change in measurement of their carrying amounts.

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

Effective January 1, 2018 (hereafter referred to as the “initial date of application”), the Credit Union adopted IFRS 15
Revenue from contracts with customers as issued by the IASB in May 2014, with clarifying amendments issued in April
2016. The standard specifies how and when entities recognize, measure, and disclose revenue. The standard supersedes
all current standards dealing with revenue recognition, including IAS 11 Construction contracts, IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 13
Customer loyalty programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the construction of real estate, IFRIC 18 Transfers of assets from
customers, and SIC 31 Revenue – barter transactions involving advertising services. 

Transition

In accordance with the transitional provisions provided by IFRS 15, the Credit Union applied the changes in the accounting
policies resulting from IFRS 15 retrospectively but has elected not to restate comparative figures. The transition to IFRS 15
had no impact on the results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2017.

3. Basis of preparation

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost basis except for the revaluation of certain financial
instruments designated as FVTPL.

Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Credit Union’s functional currency.
This is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Credit Union operates.

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Credit Union’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. These estimates and assumptions have been made using careful
judgment; however, uncertainties could result in outcomes that would require a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of the asset or liability affected in the future.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized prospectively in comprehensive income in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
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Sunova Credit Union Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018

3. Basis of presentation  (Continued from previous page)

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date are discussed
below.

As the precise determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future events, the preparation of financial
statements for a period necessarily involves the use of estimates and approximations which have been made using careful
judgment. These estimates are based on management's best knowledge of current events and actions that the Credit Union
may undertake in the future. In the future, actual experience may differ from the estimates and assumptions.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Fair value of investment property

An external appraiser estimates the fair value of investment properties annually. The fair value of an investment property is
based on the nature, location and condition of the specific asset. The fair value is calculated by determining three different
estimates of value for each property. The three estimates are the cost approach (replacement value), income approach
(estimated rental value) and the direct comparison approach (comparable property value). The three estimates of value are
then rendered into one final estimate of value through a reconciliation process where each estimate of value is considered
in light of the accuracy, importance, and relevancy of the data on which it is based. The resulting valuation is the final
estimate of value. The fair value of investment property does not reflect future capital expenditures that will improve or
enhance the property and does not reflect the related future benefits from this expenditure. Changes in assumptions about
these factors could affect the carrying value of investment property.

Valuation of goodwill

The estimate of the recoverable amount required for the impairment test is based upon a discounted cash flow analysis.
Determining the recoverability of goodwill requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU. Key
assumptions and sources of uncertainty include the determination of future cash flows expected to arise from the asset or
CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.

Allowance for impaired loans – applicable to 2017

The Credit Union reviews its individually significant loans at each reporting date to assess whether an impairment loss
should be recognized. In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of
future cash flows when determining the impairment loss.

In estimating these cash flows, the Credit Union makes judgments about the borrower’s financial situation and the net
realizable value of collateral. These estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may
differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.

Members' loans receivable that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired and all individually
insignificant loans are then assessed collectively, in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics, to determine whether
provision should be made due to incurred loss events for which there is objective evidence but whose effects are not yet
evident. The collective provision assessment takes account of data from the loan portfolio such as credit quality,
delinquency, historical performance and industry economic conditions. The impairment loss on members' loans receivable
is disclosed in more detail in Note 7.

The Credit Union has determined the likely impairment loss on loans which have not maintained the loan repayments in
accordance with the loan contract, or where there is other objective evidence of potential impairment such as industrial
restructuring, job losses or economic circumstances. In identifying the impairment likely from these events the Credit Union
estimates the potential impairment using the loan type, industry, geographical location, type of loan security, the length of
time the loans are past due and the historical loss experience. The circumstances may vary for each loan over time,
resulting in higher or lower impairment (losses). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows
are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

For purposes of the collective provision loans are classified into separate groups with similar risk characteristics, based on
the type of product and type of security.

Key assumptions in determining the allowance for expected credit losses – applicable to 2018

9



Sunova Credit Union Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018

3. Basis of presentation  (Continued from previous page)

At each reporting period, financial assets are assessed to determine whether their credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition. In determining whether credit risk has significantly increased, management develops a number of
assumptions about the following factors which impact the borrowers’ ability to meet debt obligations:

 Expected or actual significant increase in unemployment rates, interest rates

 Declining revenues, working capital deficiencies, increases in balance sheet leverage, and liquidity

 Expected or actual changes in internal credit ratings of the borrowers or external credit ratings of the instrument

 The correlation between credit risk on all lending facilities of the same borrower

 Changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-party guarantees or credit

enhancements

Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions are required when calculating the expected credit losses of financial
assets. In measuring the 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, management makes assumptions about
prepayments, the timing and extent of missed payments or default events. In addition, management makes assumptions
and estimates about the impact that future events may have on the historical data used to measure expected credit losses.

In estimating expected credit losses, the Credit Union develops a number of assumptions as follows:

 The period over which the Credit Union is exposed to credit risk, considering for example, prepayments, extension

options, demand features

 The probability-weighted outcome, including identification of scenarios that specify the amount and timing of the cash

flows for particular outcomes and the estimated probability of those outcomes

 The risk of default occurring on loans during their expected lives and during the next 12 months after the reporting date

 Expected cash shortfalls including, recoveries, costs to recover and the effects of any collateral or other credit

enhancements

 Estimates of effective interest rates used in incorporating the time value of money

The above assumptions are based on historical information and adjusted for current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. The Credit Union determines adjustments needed to its historical assumptions by monitoring the
correlation of the probability of default and loss rates with the following economic variables:

 Interest rates

 Unemployment rates

 Gross domestic product

 Inflation

 Loan to Value ratios

 Vacancy rates

The estimate of expected credit losses reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by
evaluating a range of possible outcomes that are neither best-case nor worse-case scenarios. The Credit Union uses
judgment to weight these scenarios.

Financial instruments not traded on active markets

For financial instruments not traded in active markets, fair values are determined using valuation techniques such as the
discounted cash flow model that rely on assumptions that are based on observable active markets or rates. Certain
assumptions take into consideration liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Credit Union assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for non-financial assets.
Non-financial assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not subject to amortization, such as goodwill, are tested
annually for impairment or more frequently if impairment indicators exist. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment if there are indicators that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
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Income taxes

The Credit Union periodically assesses its liabilities and contingencies related to income taxes for all years open to audit
based on the latest information available. Management believes that they have adequately provided for the probable
outcome of these matters; however, actual results may differ.

Classification of financial assets – applicable to 2018

Classification of financial assets requires management to make judgments regarding the business model under which the
Credit Union’s financial assets are held and whether contractual cash flows consist solely of payments of principal and
interest. Management has determined that the penalty to exercise prepayment features embedded in certain loans made to
retail customers do not result in payments that are not solely payments of principal and interest because they represent
reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract.

Impairment of financial assets – applicable to 2018

Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions are required when calculating the expected credit losses of financial
assets and determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition in accordance
with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. For more information, refer to Note 23. 

4. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principle accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the  consolidated financial statements are set out below. The
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. 

The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregated of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets
transferred, liabilities assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Credit Union in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

Where appropriate, the cost of acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value (the date in which the Credit Union acquired control of the
acquiree). Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as
measurement period adjustments. All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as
an asset or liability are recognized in profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as equity
are not recognized. 

The acquired identifiable assets, and liabilities are recognized at their acquisition date fair values if they meet the definitions
of assets and liabilities in the preparation and presentation of financial statements at acquisition date and they were
exchanged as part of the business combination rather than as the result of separate transactions. 

Funds on hand and on deposit

Funds on hand and on deposit consists of cash on hand and demand deposits.

Investments - applicable to 2017

Each investment is classified into one of the categories described under financial instruments. The classification dictates
the accounting treatment for the carrying value and changes in that value.
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Term deposits and municipal debentures are accounted for as loans and receivables at amortized cost, adjusted to
recognize other than a temporary impairment in the underlying value.

Shares are classified as available-for-sale and are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to their acquisition. Subsequently they are carried at fair value, unless they do not have a quoted market price in
an active market and fair value is not reliably determinable in which case they are carried at cost.

Changes in fair value, except for those arising from interest calculated using the effective interest rate, are recognized as a
separate component of other comprehensive income.

Where there is a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of shares (which constitutes objective evidence of
impairment), the full amount of the impairment, including any amount previously recognized in other comprehensive income,
is recognized in profit or loss.

Members’ loans receivable - applicable to 2017

Loans are initially recognized at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. Amortized cost is calculated
as the loans’ principal amount, less any allowance for anticipated losses, plus accrued interest. Interest revenue is recorded
on the accrual basis using the effective interest method. Loan administration fees are amortized over the term of the loan
using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the carrying amount of the financial asset.

Loan syndication

As part of its normal operating activities, the Credit Union syndicates loans receivable. When a loan is syndicated, all of the
risks and rewards associated with ownership of the loan are transferred to the purchaser and no guarantees, provision for
recourse or over-collateralizations are made by the Credit Union. As a result, the portion of the underlying assets and
liabilities associated with syndicated loans that have been derecognized at the time of sale are not reported in the Credit
Union's statement of financial position, and any gains or losses on sale are recognized in the statement of income and
comprehensive income.
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Allowance for loan impairment - applicable to 2017

Allowance for loan impairment represents specific and general provisions established as a result of reviews of individual
loans and groups of loans. In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of
future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. In estimating these cash flows, the Credit Union makes judgments
about the credit worthiness of the borrower’s financial situation and the net realizable value of collateral. These estimates
are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the
allowance.

Member loans receivable that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired are then assessed collectively,
in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics, to determine whether provision should be made due to incurred loss
events for which there is objective evidence but whose effects are not yet evident. The collective assessment takes into
account data from the loan portfolio based on analysis of historical data, such as credit quality, levels of arrears, historical
performance and economic outlook. From this analysis, expected loss rates are determined based on probability of default
factors and estimates of loss given default rates. The collective allowance is established by applying expected loss rates to
credit portfolios segregated by risk profile.

Individual allowances are established by reviewing the credit worthiness of individual borrowers and the value of the
collateral underlying the loan.

Restructured loans are not considered impaired where reasonable assurance exists that the borrower will meet the terms of
the modified debt agreement.

Loans classified as impaired include loans for which interest or principal payments are 30 days past due, unless the loan is
well secured, in which case they are only classified as impaired if the payments are 90 days past due. Loans are also
considered impaired if, in management's view, there is no longer reasonable assurance of timely collection of the full
amount of principal and interest.

In such cases, a specific provision is established to write down the loan to the estimated future net cash flows from the loan
discounted at the loans’ original effective interest rate. In cases where it is impractical to estimate the future cash flows, the
carrying amount of the loan is reduced to its fair value calculated based on an observable market price. Any previously
accrued but unpaid interest on the loan is charged to the allowance for loan impairment. Interest income after the
impairment is recognized using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss.

Financial assets, together with the associated provision for impairment are reported as a credit loss when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and when the Credit Union is in possession of the loan. Interest income is accrued until
the financial asset becomes a credit loss

Property and equipment

All property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, with the exception of
land which is not depreciated. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. When
parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property
and equipment.
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All assets having limited useful lives are depreciated using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives.

The useful life applicable for each class of asset during the current and comparative period are as follows:

Rate

Buildings straight-line 2-5 %
Furniture and equipment straight-line 20 %
Computer equipment straight-line 33.3 %
Security equipment straight-line 5 %
Computer software straight-line 50 %
Automobiles straight-line 30 %

The useful lives of items of property and equipment are reviewed periodically and the useful life is altered if estimates have
changed significantly. Gains or losses on the disposal of property, equipment and intangible assets are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognized in income. 

Investment property

Investment property is investment interests in land and buildings held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation, or
both. Investment property is comprised of office buildings and retail space leased out under operating lease agreements.
Where distinguishing between investment property and owner-occupied property is difficult the following criteria are applied
to classification: 

 If the property is more than 80% held to earn rental income or capital appreciation, it is classified as investment

property. The Credit Union determines the percentage of the portions using the size of the property measured in

square metres.

Rental income and operating expenses from investment property are presented within other income and occupancy
expenses respectively.

Investment property is initially recognized at cost, including transaction costs. Cost comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable expenditures. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at fair value which reflects
market conditions at each reporting date, with any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value recognized in profit or loss
in the period. 

Fair value of investment property is determined by an independent external valuer holding recognized and relevant
professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of investment property being valued every
year.

Subsequent expenditures are charged to the investment property only when it is probable that future economic benefits of
the expenditure will flow to the Credit Union and the cost can be measured reliably.

The Credit Union only enters as lessor into lease agreements that are classified as operating leases. A lease is classified as
an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. The properties
leased out under operating leases are included in investment property. Lease incentives are recognized as a reduction of
rental income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are reported at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment
losses. Amortization is recognized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortization method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis.  

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognized separately from goodwill where they
meet the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible assets
is their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 

14



Sunova Credit Union Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018

4. Summary of significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

All research costs are recognized in profit and loss as they are incurred. 

Specified intangible assets are recognized separately from goodwill. Such intangible assets are recorded at cost and
amortized as follows, based upon management’s best estimate of the useful life of the asset.

The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Customer list and licenses straight-line 12 years
Banking system software straight-line 10 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. 

Review of useful lives, amortization period and method

The useful lives of the intangible assets are reviewed on an annual basis and the useful life is altered if estimates have
changed significantly. Gains or losses on the disposal of intangible assets are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognised in profit or loss as other operating income or
other operating costs, respectively.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized on a systematic basis over their useful lives. The amortization period
and amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life reflects the pattern in which the assets' future
economic benefits are expected to be consumed. Where the pattern cannot be reliably determined, the straight-line method
is used. The amortization period and method is reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognized as an asset at the date of control (acquisition date). Goodwill is
measured as the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Credit Union’s interests in the net fair value of the identifiable
net assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree recognized at the date of acquisition.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating unit or groups of cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit to which goodwill is allocated represents,
subject to an operating segment ceiling test, the lowest level within the Credit Union that goodwill is monitored for internal
reporting purposes. The impairment of non-financial assets note describes how goodwill is tested for impairment.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Credit Union reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Credit Union estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating units (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU’s, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of CGU’s for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in income.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognized immediately in income
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Members' savings and deposits

Members' savings and deposits are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs directly attributable to the
issuance of the instrument, and are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

Accounts payable

Accounts payable are initially recorded at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortized cost, which approximates fair
value due to the short term nature of these liabilities.

Securitization liabilities

The Credit Union has entered into asset transfer agreements with other third parties which include the securitization of
residential mortgages. These transfers do not qualify for derecognition principally because the Credit Union retains
significant exposure to prepayment and other risks associated with the transferred mortgages. As such, these transactions
are accounted for as financing activities and result in the recognition of a securitization liability at an amount equivalent to
the securitization proceeds, inclusive of any premiums or discounts and net of eligible transaction costs. The securitization
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

Provisions

A provision is recognized, if, as a result of a past event, the Credit Union has a legal or constructive obligation that can be
estimated reliably and it is probable that a future outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. The
timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.

Provisions are measured by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and specific risks of the obligation. Where there are a number of obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. All
provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted accordingly to reflect the current best estimate.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

All contingent liabilities are continually reviewed to determine whether an outflow of economic benefits has become
probable. Where a contingent liability becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will be required, a
provision is recognized in the period in which the change in probability occurs. If at the end of the reporting period it is no
longer probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed.

Members' shares

Shares are classified as liabilities or member equity in accordance with their terms. Shares redeemable at the option of the
member are classified as liabilities. Shares redeemable at the discretion of the Credit Union board of directors are classified
as equity. Shares are accounted for using the criteria set out in IFRIC 2 Members' Shares in Cooperative Entities and
Similar Instruments.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Credit Union and the
revenue can be reliably measured.

Interest income is recognized on the statement of net income and comprehensive income for all financial assets measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated
future cash flows through the expected life of the financial instrument back to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
The application of the method has the effect of recognizing revenue of the financial instrument evenly in proportion to the
amount outstanding over the period to maturity or repayment.

Interest penalties received as a result of loan prepayments by members are recognized as income in the year in which the
prepayment is made.

Fees and commissions are recognized on an accrual basis when the service has been provided.

Investment income is recognized as interest is earned on interest-bearing investments, and when dividends are declared on
shares.

Other revenue is recognized as services are provided to members.

Income taxes

Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in income except to the extent that the tax is recognized either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, or the tax arises from a business combination.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The calculation of current tax is based on the tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the assets are
realized or the liabilities are settled. The calculation of deferred tax is based on the tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs from its tax base,
except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and temporary differences arising on
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting or taxable income.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available which allow the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Leases

The Credit Union leases commercial property. The Credit Union, as a lessee, has determined, based on an evaluation of
the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that it does not retain any of the significant risks and rewards of ownership of
these properties and therefore accounts for them as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged
as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

Foreign currency translation

Transaction amounts denominated in foreign currencies are translated into their Canadian dollar equivalents at exchange
rates prevailing at the transaction dates. Carrying values of monetary assets and liabilities reflect the exchange rates at the
year end date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost are translated into Canadian dollars
by using the exchange rate in effect at the date of the initial transaction and are not subsequently restated. Translation
gains and losses are included in other revenue.
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Financial instruments - applicable to 2017

Classification and measurement

All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on whether the
financial instrument has been classified as fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale, held-to-maturity, loans and
receivables, or other financial liabilities.

Financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealized
gains and losses recognized in income. 

Available for sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized in
other comprehensive income. Certain equity instruments which do not trade in an open market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured are recorded at cost. 

Financial assets classified as held-to-maturity are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate
method. 

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost. 

Financial instruments classified as other financial liabilities include members' savings and deposits, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities and securitization liabilities. Other financial liabilities are subsequently carried at amortized cost.

Derecognition of financial assets

Derecognition of a financial asset occurs when:

 The Credit Union does not have rights to receive cash flows from the asset;

 The Credit Union has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the

received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through" arrangement; and either:

 The Credit Union has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or

 The Credit Union has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has

transferred control of the asset.

When the Credit Union has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred or retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Credit Union’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that
case, the Credit Union also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Credit Union has retained.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where an
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of the
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amount is recognized in
comprehensive income.

Derivative financial instruments

The Credit Union designates certain financial assets upon initial recognition as fair value through profit or loss (fair value
option). Financial instruments included in this category are interest rate swaps not designated as hedging instruments. The
Credit Union has entered into interest rate swap contracts with Credit Union Central of Manitoba to mitigate the Credit
Union's exposure to interest rate risks. 

These instruments are measured at fair value, both initially and subsequently. The related transaction costs are expensed.
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of these instruments are recorded in income.
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Financial instruments – Policy applicable from January 1, 2018

Financial assets

Recognition and initial measurement

The Credit Union recognizes financial assets when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets are measured initially at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition. Transaction costs
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or loss when incurred.

Classification and subsequent measurement

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The Credit Union determines the classification
of its financial assets, together with any embedded derivatives, based on the business model for managing the financial
assets and their contractual cash flow characteristics. 

Debt instruments are classified as follows:

 Amortized cost - Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows are solely

payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest revenue is calculated using the effective

interest method and gains or losses arising from impairment, foreign exchange and derecognition are recognized in

profit or loss. Financial assets measured at amortized cost are comprised of members' loans receivable.

 Fair value through other comprehensive income - Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for

selling the financial assets, and for which the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, are

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Interest income calculated using the effective interest

method and gains or losses arising from impairment and foreign exchange are recognized in profit or loss. All other

changes in the carrying amount of the financial assets are recognized in other comprehensive income. Upon

derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit

or loss. The Credit Union does not hold any financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive

income.

 Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss - Assets that do not meet the criteria to be measured at amortized cost, or

fair value through other comprehensive income, are measured at fair value through profit or loss. All interest income and

changes in the financial assets’ carrying amount are recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets mandatorily measured

at fair value through profit or loss are comprised of funds on hand, interest rate swaps, terms deposits and shares in

Credit Union Central of Manitoba.

 Designated at fair value through profit or loss – On initial recognition, the Credit Union may irrevocably designate a

financial asset to be measured at fair value through profit or loss in order to eliminate or significantly reduce an

accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities, or recognizing the gains and losses

on them, on different bases. All interest income and changes in the financial assets’ carrying amount are recognized in

profit or loss. The Credit Union does not hold any financial assets designated to be measured at fair value through profit

or loss.

Business model assessment

The Credit Union assesses the objective of its business model for holding a financial asset at a level of aggregation which
best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. Information considered in this
assessment includes stated policies and objectives, how performance of the portfolio is evaluated, risks affecting the
performance of the business model, how managers of the business are compensated, and the significance and frequency
of sales in prior periods.
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Contractual cash flow assessment

The cash flows of financial assets are assessed as to whether they are solely payments of principal and interest on the
basis of their contractual terms. For this purpose, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money, the credit risk associated with the principal
amount outstanding, and other basic lending risks and costs. In performing this assessment, the Credit Union considers
factors that would alter the timing and amount of cash flows such as prepayment and extension features, terms that might
limit the Credit Union’s claim to cash flows, and any features that modify consideration for the time value of money.

Reclassifications

The Credit Union reclassifies debt instruments only when its business model for managing those financial assets has
changed. Reclassifications are applied prospectively from the reclassification date and any previously recognized gains,
losses or interest are not restated.

Impairment

The Credit Union recognizes a loss allowance for the expected credit losses associated with its financial assets, other than
debt instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss and equity investments. Expected credit losses are measured
to reflect a probability-weighted amount, the time value of money, and reasonable and supportable information regarding
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

For members' loan receivable, the Credit Union records a loss allowance equal to the expected credit losses resulting from
default events that are possible within the next 12-month period, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. For those financial assets for which the Credit Union assessed that a significant increase in credit
risk has occurred, the Credit Union records a loss allowance equal to the expected credit losses resulting from all possible
default events over the assets’ contractual lifetime.

The Credit Union assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired at the reporting date. Regular indicators that a
financial instrument is credit-impaired include significant financial difficulties as evidenced through borrowing patterns or
observed balances in other accounts, breaches of borrowing contracts such as default events or breaches of borrowing
covenants and requests to restructure loan payment schedules. For financial assets assessed as credit-impaired at the
reporting date, the Credit Union continues to recognize a loss allowance equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as a deduction
from the gross carrying amount of the financial assets. 

Financial assets are written off when the Credit Union has no reasonable expectations of recovering all or any portion
thereof.

Refer to Note 23 for additional information about the Credit Union’s credit risk management process, credit risk exposure
and the amounts arising from expected credit losses.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Credit Union applies its accounting policies for the derecognition of a financial asset to a part of a financial asset only
when:

 The part comprises only specifically identified cash flows from a financial asset;

 The part comprises only a pro-rata share of the cash flows from a financial asset; or

 The part comprises only a pro-rata share of specifically identified cash flows from a financial asset.

In all other situations the Credit Union applies its accounting policies for the derecognition of a financial asset to the entirety
of a financial asset.

The Credit Union derecognizes a financial asset when its contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or the financial asset has been transferred under particular circumstances.

For this purpose, a financial asset is transferred if the Credit Union either:

 Transfers the right to receive the contractual cash flows of the financial asset, or;
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 Retains the right to receive the contractual cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes an obligation to pay

received cash flows in full to one or more third parties without material delay and is prohibited from further selling or

transferring the financial asset.

Transferred financial assets are evaluated to determine the extent to which the Credit Union retains the risks and rewards of
ownership. When the Credit Union neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset, it evaluates whether it has retained control of the financial asset.

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred, or risks and rewards have neither been
transferred nor retained and control of the financial asset has not been retained, the Credit Union derecognizes the financial
asset. At the same time, the Credit Union separately recognizes as assets or liabilities the fair value of any rights and
obligations created or retained in the transfer. Any difference between the carrying amount measured at the date of
recognition and the consideration received is recognized in profit or loss. 

Where a derecognized financial asset is a part of a larger financial asset, the previous carrying amount of the larger
financial asset is allocated between the part that continues to be recognized and the part that is derecognized on the basis
of their relative fair values.

Modification of financial assets

The Credit Union assesses the modification of terms of a financial asset to evaluate whether its contractual rights to the
cash flows from that asset have expired in accordance with the Credit Union’s derecognition policy.

When the modifications do not result in derecognition of the financial asset, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
is recalculated with any difference between the previous carrying amount and the new carrying amount recognized in profit
or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated as the present value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. 

For the purpose of applying the impairment requirements, at each reporting date subsequent to the modification, the Credit
Union continues to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on the modified financial assets from
the date of initial recognition.

Financial liabilities

Recognition and initial measurement

The Credit Union recognizes a financial liability when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At
initial recognition, the Credit Union measures financial liabilities at their fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to their issuance, with the exception of financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss for which transaction costs are immediately recorded in profit or loss.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate
method. Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include members' savings and deposits, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities and securitization liabilities.

Financial liabilities are not reclassified subsequent to initial recognition. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Credit Union derecognizes a financial liability only when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

Interest

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

The "effective interest rate" is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over the expected life of the
financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or the amortized cost of the financial liability. The
effective interest rate is calculated considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments, except for the expected
credit losses of financial assets.
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

The "amortized cost" of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the instrument is measured on initial
recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus any cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of
any difference between the initial amount and maturity amount and adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance. The
"gross carrying amount" of a financial asset is the amortized cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected
credit losses. 

Interest income and expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or the amortized cost of the financial liability.

Where a financial asset has become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated in
subsequent periods by applying the effective interest method to the amortized cost of the financial asset. If the asset
subsequently ceases to be credit-impaired, calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Impairment of financial assets - applicable to 2017

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Credit Union first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Credit Union determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, it includes the financial asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assessed them for impairment. Financial assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment for impairment. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the loan’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The carrying amount of the
financial asset is reduced through the use of the provision for impaired financial assets and the amount of the impairment
loss is recognized in comprehensive income.

Financial assets, together with the associated provision for impairment are reported as a credit loss when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and when the Credit Union is in possession of the loan. Interest income is accrued until
the financial asset becomes a credit loss.

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial assets' original effective interest rate. The
calculation of the present value of estimated future cash flows reflects the projected cash flows including provisions for
impaired financial assets, prepayment losses, and costs to securitize and service financial assets.

For the purpose of the collective evaluation of loan impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of the Credit
Union’s internal system that considers credit risk, characteristics such as asset type, industry, geographical location,
collateral, delinquency status and other relevant economic factors.

Future cash flows on the group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis
of historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical credit loss
experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions on which the
historical credit loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist
currently. Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect, and are directionally consistent with, changes in related
observable data from year to year such as changes in unemployment rates, inflation, borrowing rates, consumer fuel prices,
vehicle auction values or other factors that are indicative of incurred losses in the group and their magnitude. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed. Any
subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.

Bad debts are written off from time to time as determined by management and approved by the Board of Directors when it is
reasonable to expect that the recovery of the debt is unlikely. Bad debts are written off against the provisions for
impairment, if a provision for impairment had previously been recognized. If no provision had been recognized, the write offs
are recognized as expenses in the period.
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Standards issued but not yet effective

The Credit Union has not yet applied the following new standards, interpretations and amendments to standards that have
been issued as at December 31, 2018 but are not yet effective. Unless otherwise stated, the Credit Union does not plan to
early adopt any of these new or amended standards and interpretations.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16, issued in January 2016, introduces a single lessee accounting model that requires a lessee to recognize assets
and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. The standard

will supersede IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases -

Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The Credit Union is currently assessing the
impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

5. Business combinations

Business acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method. The results of the acquired businesses are included
in the consolidated financial statements as from the respective dates of acquisition. 

On July 1, 2018, the Credit Union completed the acquisition of Oakbank Credit Union Limited. Each issued and
outstanding common and surplus share of Oakbank Credit Union Limited was converted into an equivalent share of Sunova
Credit Union Limited.

The results of operations of the former Oakbank Credit Union Limited are included in the audited consolidated financial
statements beginning on the date of acquisition.

The fair value of net assets acquired, based on managment's best estimates, are as follows: 

Pre-acquisition
carrying amount

Fair-value
adjustment

Fair value at the
acquisition date

Acquired assets and assumed liabilities
Funds on hand and on deposits 3,045,859 - 3,045,859
Property, equipment and intangibles 2,702,660 745,954 3,448,614
Other assets 559,357 - 559,357
Investments 16,540,834 1,472 16,542,306
Members' loans receivable 201,904,079 (1,712,801) 200,191,278
Income taxes recoverable 35,356 - 35,356
Loan payable (5,301,061) - (5,301,061)
Members' savings and deposits (205,030,693) 196,543 (204,834,150)
Accounts payable (838,123) (433,948) (1,272,071)
Deferred tax asset (liabilities) (6,000) 179,000 173,000

Net identifiable asset and liabilities 13,612,268 (1,023,780) 12,588,488
Purchase price - equity interest issued to members (2,136,605)

Contributed surplus 10,451,883
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6. Investments

2018 2017
Measured at FVTPL (2017 - available for sale)

CUCM shares 8,444,825 8,995,625
Concentra trust shares 1,145 10

8,445,970 8,995,635

Measured at FVTPL (2017 - loans and receivables)
CUCM term deposits 146,476,883 98,000,000
Accrued interest 198,182 11,408

146,675,065 98,011,408

Measured at amortized cost (2017 - Held to maturity)
Municipal debentures 3,951,761 4,604,932
Accrued interest 9,065 61,074

3,960,826 4,666,006

Total 159,081,861 111,673,049

Term deposits consist of 30 to 90-day term deposits earning interest between 2.01% and 2.55% (2017 - 1.23% to 1.32%).
The term deposits mature within one year (2017 - within one year).

Municipal debentures consist of 12 debentures earning interest between 3.88% and 6.00% (2017 - 2.88% to 6.00%). The
maturity dates range from two to 14 years (2017 - one to 15 years).

The shares in Credit Union Central of Manitoba are required as a condition of membership and are redeemable upon
withdrawal of membership or at the discretion of the Board of Directors of Credit Union Central of Manitoba. In addition, the
member credit unions are subject to additional capital calls at the discretion of the Board of Directors of CUCM. Class 1 and
2 CUCM shares are subject to a rebalancing mechanism at least annually and are issued and redeemable at par value.
There is no separately quoted market value for these shares. However, fair value is determined to be equivalent to the par
value due to the fact that transactions occur at par value on a regular and recurring basis.

Included in investment income is a fair value gain of $106,254 (2017 - gain of $493,845) related to the Credit Union's
interest rate swaps. The Credit Union enters into interest rate swaps under policies and procedures which ensure they are
utilized for reducing the Credit Union's exposure to fluctuating interest rates. All interest rate swaps are purchased on behalf
of the Credit Union by Credit Union Central of Manitoba. As at December 31, 2018, the notational principal of swaps was
$25,000,000 (2017 - $25,000,000).

Pursuant to Regulations, Credit Union Central of Manitoba requires that the Credit Union maintain 8% of its total liabilities in
specified liquidity deposits. The provincial regulator for Credit Unions, Deposit Guarantee Corporation of Manitoba, requires
that the Credit Union adhere to these prescribed limits and restrictions. As of December 31, 2018 the Credit Union has a
liquidity ratio of 10.54% and therefore has met the liquidity requirement.
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7. Members' loans receivable

Member loans can have either a variable or fixed rate of interest, and they mature within seven years.

Variable rate loans are based on a "prime rate" formula, and as at December 31, 2018 range from prime less 3.45% to
prime plus 18.30% (2017 - prime less 1.40% to prime plus 18.30%). The rate is determined by the type of security offered
and the members' credit worthiness. The Credit Union's prime rate at December 31, 2018 was 3.95% (2017 - 3.20%).

The interest rates on fixed rate loans outstanding as at December 31, 2018 range from 1.49% to 21.00% (2017 - 1.50% to
21.00%). The rate offered to a member varies with the type of security offered and the member's credit worthiness.

Commercial loans consist of loans and mortgages to individuals, partnerships and corporations, and have various
repayment terms. They are secured by various types of collateral, including mortgages on real property, general security
agreements, charges on specific equipment, investments, and personal guarantees.

Personal loans consist of loans that are non real estate secured and, as such, have various repayment terms. Some of the
personal loans are secured by personal property or investments, and other promises to pay.

Residential mortgages are secured by residential property and are repayable under multiple payment frequency options
with either blended payments of principal and interest or interest only.

Principal and allowance by loan type:

2018

Principal
performing

Principal
impaired

Allowance
specific

Allowance
collective

Net carrying
value

Commercial loans 295,207,436 628,218 94,233 277,683 295,463,738
Personal loans 175,684,274 430,272 358,052 638,536 175,117,958
Residential mortgages 1,296,104,491 6,795,670 42,872 1,617,842 1,301,239,447

1,766,996,201 7,854,160 495,157 2,534,061 1,771,821,143

2017

Principal
performing

Principal
impaired

Allowance
specific

Allowance
collective

Net carrying
value

Commercial loans 246,086,636 1,287,628 188,080 301,693 246,884,491
Personal loans 147,914,843 53,042 114,229 805,563 147,048,093
Residential mortgages 997,213,184 2,656,526 143,375 1,642,461 998,083,874

1,391,214,663 3,997,196 445,684 2,749,717 1,392,016,458
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The allowance for impaired loans changed as follows:

2018 2017

Balance, beginning of year 3,195,401 2,316,536
Provision for loan losses 1,198,058 2,041,242

4,393,459 4,357,778
Less: accounts written off 1,364,241 1,162,377

Balance, end of year 3,029,218 3,195,401

A loan is considered past due when a counterparty has not made a payment by the contractual due date. The table that
follows presents the carrying value of loans at year-end that are past due but not classified as impaired because they are
less than 90 days past due and fully secured and collection efforts are reasonably expected to result in repayment.

2018
1-30 days 31-60 days 61 days and

greater

Commercial loans 6,834,612 398,086 - 7,232,698
Personal loans 1,411,108 59,944 9,383 1,480,435
Residential mortgages 21,626,782 1,983,166 449,043 24,058,991

Total 34,715,821 4,143,274 458,426 40,764,627

2017
1-30 days 31-60 days 61 days and

greater

Commercial loans 1,704,616 - - 1,704,616
Personal loans 995,893 153,969 - 1,149,862
Residential mortgages 18,318,779 1,862,248 - 20,181,027

Total 21,019,288 2,016,217 - 23,035,505

The principal collateral and other credit enhancements the Credit Union holds as security for loans include (i) insurance,
mortgages over residential lots and properties, (ii) recourse to business assets such as real estate, equipment, inventory
and accounts receivable, (iii) recourse to commercial real estate properties being financed, and (iv) recourse to liquid
assets, guarantees and securities. Valuations of collateral are updated periodically depending on the nature of the
collateral. The Credit Union has policies in place to monitor the existence of undesirable concentration in the collateral
supporting its credit exposure. In management's estimation, the fair value of the collateral is sufficient to offset the risk of
loss on the loans past due but not impaired.

8. Other assets

2018 2017

Accounts receivable 1,264,707 1,099,879
Prepaid expenses and deposits 2,691,986 1,328,983
Property held for resale 1,535,664 493,042

5,492,357 2,921,904
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9. Investment properties

Investment properties include land and buildings, held to earn rental income.

Changes to the carrying amount of investment property from the beginning to the end of the financial year are as follows:

2018 2017

At fair value

Carrying amount, January 1 11,590,000 11,285,000
Additions – developments/subsequent expenditure - 7,838
Net gain on fair value adjustments 415,000 297,162

Carrying amount, December 31 12,005,000 11,590,000

Investment properties were valued by an external independent valuation professional who is deemed to be a qualified
appraiser who holds a recognized, relevant, professional qualification and who has recent experience in the locations and
categories of the investment properties valued. The carrying value of investment properties valued by the external appraiser
as at December 31, 2018 agrees to the valuations reported by the external appraiser.

The Credit Union utilizes capitalization rates within the ranges provided by market experts. To the extent that the externally
provided capitalization rate ranges change from one reporting period to the next, or should another rate within the provided
ranges be considered by the Credit Union to be more appropriate than the rate previously used, the fair value of the
investment properties would increase or decrease accordingly.

The valuation of investment properties considers all of the information generated by the above noted methods and
assumptions.

As noted above, investment properties are valued using the capitalized net operating income method and the discounted
cash flow method. The valuation process is classified as Level 3 on the fair value hierarchy.

The most significant inputs or variables to the valuation process, all of which are unobservable, are normalized income and
the capitalization rate. An increase in normalized income or a decrease in the capitalization rate will result in an increase in
the estimated fair value of the investment property. The fair value estimate is sensitive to each of the inputs; however,
changes in the capitalization rate have the greatest impact on the fair value estimate.

The key valuation assumptions for investment properties as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Weighted
Maximum Minimum average

Capitalization rate — 2018 7.50% 5.50% 5.95%
Capitalization rate — 2017 7.50% 5.75% 5.95%

Additional valuation assumptions include the rental revenue per square meter, grade quality of the property and comparable
market data.

During the December 31, 2018, $1,086,597 of rental income from investment property was recognized in profit (loss) (2017
– $973,084). $454,809 of direct operating expense relating to investment property was recognized in occupancy expenses
(2017 – $402,432).
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10. Property and equipment

Land Buildings

Furniture
and

equipment
Computer

equipment
Security

equipment
Computer

software Automobiles Total

Cost

Balance as December 31, 2016 3,479,947 31,145,803 9,051,194 2,693,988 2,214,175 670,212 433,661 49,688,980

Additions 956 69,847 233,632 266,069 - 248,431 172,813 991,748

Disposals - - - - - - (140,635) (140,635)

Balance at December 31, 2017 3,480,903 31,215,650 9,284,826 2,960,057 2,214,175 918,643 465,839 50,540,093

Additions 31,237 150,646 142,502 256,390 1,108 157,500 225,620 965,003

Disposals - - - - - - (150,995) (150,995)

Acquisitions through business combinations
  (Note 5) 838,000 2,244,900 297,720 67,994 - - - 3,448,614

Balance at December 31, 2018 4,350,140 33,611,196 9,725,048 3,284,441 2,215,283 1,076,143 540,464 54,802,715

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at December 31, 2016 - 4,189,316 7,210,755 2,136,503 920,964 624,519 367,878 15,449,935

Additions - 669,216 527,468 341,700 103,339 109,326 56,316 1,807,365

Disposals - - - - - - (90,712) (90,712)

Balance at December 31, 2017 - 4,858,532 7,738,223 2,478,203 1,024,303 733,845 333,482 17,166,588

Additions - 741,953 519,451 324,975 101,963 169,721 83,433 1,941,496

Impairment loss - 204,677 - - - - - 204,677

Disposals - - - - - - (139,988) (139,988)

Balance at December 31, 2018 - 5,805,162 8,257,674 2,803,178 1,126,266 903,566 276,927 19,172,773

Net book value

At December 31, 2017 3,480,903 26,357,118 1,546,603 481,854 1,189,872 184,798 132,357 33,373,505

At December 31, 2018 4,350,140 27,806,034 1,467,374 481,263 1,089,017 172,577 263,537 35,629,942

The gross amount of fully depreciated items still in use is $7,745,972.
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11. Intangible assets

Customer list
and licenses

Banking
system

software Total

Cost

Balance at January 1, 2017 1,447,872 1,857,619 3,305,491

Balance at December 31, 2017 1,447,872 1,857,619 3,305,491

Balance at December 31, 2018 1,447,872 1,857,619 3,305,491

Amortization and impairment losses

Balance January 1, 2017 - 1,249,321 1,249,321

Amortization for the year 95,834 189,717 285,551

Balance at December 31, 2017 95,834 1,439,038 1,534,872

Amortization for the year 95,835 189,717 285,552

Balance at December 31, 2018 191,669 1,628,755 1,820,424

Carrying amounts

At December 31, 2017 1,352,038 418,581 1,770,619

At December 31, 2018 1,256,203 228,864 1,485,067

12. Goodwill

The summary of movement in goodwill is presented below:
2018 2017

Balance at beginning of year 10,037,857 10,037,857
Purchase price adjustment (24,144) -

Balance at end of year 10,013,713 10,037,857

Goodwill is not amortized, but is evaluated for impairment annually or more frequently when an event or circumstances
occur that indicate that goodwill might be impaired. Testing for impairment is accomplished by determining if carrying value
of the goodwill exceeds its recoverable amount at the measurement date. The recoverable amount of the CGU is
determined based on a value-in-use calculation, using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior
management. The key assumptions of the value-in-use calculations are those regarding industry growth rates, expected
changes in revenue and direct costs during the year. Changes in revenue and direct costs are based on past practices and
expectations of future changes in the market.

The Credit Union performed an impairment test as at December 31, 2018 and it was determined that the fair value
exceeded the carrying value and no provision for impairment was required. 

13. Derivatives and hedge accounting

The nature of the Credit Union’s activities exposes it to risks of changes in interest rates. The Credit Union uses interest
rate swaps to reduce exposure to interest rate risk. The following summarizes the Credit Union’s use of derivative financial
instruments:
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During 2014, the Credit Union entered into an interest rate swap agreement with Central. The agreement represents a
notional amount of $25,000,000, which is used as the basis for determining the payment under the contract and is not
actually exchanged between the Credit Union and Central. The swap agreement matures on March 31, 2019 and has fixed
interest rates paid at 2.0625% and received at 1.5420%.

The fair value of the interest rate swap at December 31, 2018 was an asset of $9,632 (2017 - liability of $134,839).

14. Income tax

The tax effect of temporary differences which give rise to the deferred taxes is from differences between accounts deducted
for accounting and income tax purposes including property and equipment, intangible assets, fair value adjustments on the
acquisition of Oakbank Credit Union and the allowance for impaired loans.

2018 2017

Deferred tax liability
Property and equipment and investment properties (3,280,000) (2,455,447)
Intangibles (382,000) (222,301)

(3,662,000) (2,677,748)

Deferred tax asset
Allowance for impaired loans 450,000 273,678
Members' loans and savings and deposits 230,000 -
Loss carryforward of subsidiaries - 1,925

680,000 275,603

Net deferred tax liability (2,982,000) (2,402,145)

During the year, all movements in deferred taxes were recognized in income other than $178,000 recognized as part of a
business combination (Note 5).

2018 2017

Deferered tax assets
Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months 680,000 275,603
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets to be settled after more than 12 months (3,662,000) (2,677,748)

Net deferred tax liability (2,982,000) (2,402,145)

Reconciliation between effective tax rate and actual tax rate
2018 2017

Federal base rate %38.00 %38.00
Federal abatement %(10.00) %(10.00)
General rate reduction %(13.00) %(13.00)
Additional deduction for Credit Unions %- %(0.40)
Provincial tax rate %0.96 %1.00
Changes in deferred tax rates %11.08 %-
Other %(0.24) %(3.08)

Income taxes as reported %26.80 %12.52
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15. Members' savings and deposits

2018 2017

Chequing 918,546,208 767,876,448
Term deposits 475,360,001 338,850,105
Registered savings plans 394,168,185 278,514,282
Accrued interest 8,465,413 4,900,261

Total 1,796,539,807 1,390,141,096

2018 2017

Balance, beginning of year 1,390,141,096 1,280,546,677 
Net cash increase in members' savings and deposits 197,999,409 109,943,263 
Members' savings and deposits acquired in business combination 204,834,150 - 
Non-cash change in accrued interest 3,565,152 (348,844)

Balance, end of year 1,796,539,807 1,390,141,096

Member deposits are subject to the following terms:

 Chequing and savings products are due on demand and bear interest at rates up to 2.80% (2017 - 2.30%)

 Term deposits are subject to fixed rates of interest ranging from 0.90% to 6.75% (2017 - 0.90% to 6.75%), with interest

payments due monthly, annually or on maturity.

 Registered savings plans are subject to fixed and variable rates of interest from 0.00% to 4.00% (2017 - 0.00% to

3.55%), with interest payments due monthly, annually or on maturity.

Total deposits include $29,453,150 (2017 - $30,583,379) denominated in United States dollars.

16. Loan payable

The Credit Union has an approved borrowing limit of 10% of members' savings and deposits. Borrowings are payable to
Credit Union Central of Manitoba at an interest rate tied to the bankers acceptance rates and are secured by all assets with
no fixed terms of repayment. At December 31, 2018 the balance was $10,000,000 (2017 - $75,000,000).

17. Securitization liabilities

The Credit Union periodically may securitize mortgages through the transfer of mortgage loans to third parties, and is an
approved issuer in the National Housing Act Mortgage-backed Securities Program. As at December 31, 2018, the
aggregate value of securitized mortgages outstanding amounted to $99,023,034 (2017 - $38,315,259). There were no credit
losses incurred on the mortgages transferred in 2018. The Credit Union retains the responsibility for servicing the qualifying
residential mortgage receivables. Under the program, the Credit Union has an obligation to forward principal and interest
amounts from the original loan to Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation monthly whether or not it receives payments
from mortgagers. The Credit Union has retained substantially all of the risks and rewards associated with the transferred
assets. These assets are recognized within members' loans and the transfers are accounted for as secured financing
transactions. The associated liability, secured by these loans, is carried at amortized cost and included in securitization
liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial position.

2018 2017

Securitization 99,023,034 38,315,259
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18. Members' shares

Authorized:

Unlimited number of Common shares, at an issue price of $5
Unlimited number of Surplus shares, at an issue price of $1

Issued:

2018 2017

Share capital
4,602,711 Common shares (2017 - 4,222,987) 23,013,556 21,114,933
11,991,701 Surplus shares (2017 - 9,004,285) 11,991,701 9,004,285

Total 35,005,257 30,119,218

During the year, the Credit Union issued 799,378 (2017 - 1,152,600) and redeemed 419,654 (2017 - 504,247) common
shares, and also issued 5,164,495 (2017 - 1,085,271) and redeemed 2,177,079 (2017 - 326,852) surplus shares.

When an individual becomes a member of the Credit Union, they are issued a common share at $5 per share. Each
member of the Credit Union has one vote, regardless of the number of shares held. These membership shares are
redeemable at par only when a membership is withdrawn. Dividends are at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Since
shares are redeemable only at the discretion of the Credit Union Board of Directors, they are classified as equity.

Surplus shares are established as a means of returning excess earnings to the members and at the same time increasing
the Credit Union's equity base. The articles of incorporation for the Credit Union disclose the conditions concerning surplus
shares. These shares are redeemable at the discretion of the Board of Directors and as such are recorded as equity.

19. Dividends payable

The Board of Directors declared a share dividend of 4.92% (2017 - 4.27%) on Common and Surplus shares as at
December 31, 2018 in the amount of $1,390,360 (2017 - $1,085,271). The dividends are to be paid by issuance of Surplus
shares on May 1, 2019.

20. Capital management

The Credit Union provides financial services to its members and is subject to the capital requirements set out in the Credit
Unions and Caisses Populaires Act of Manitoba (the Act). 

The Credit Union’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure the long term viability of the Credit Union and the
security of member deposits by holding a level of capital deemed sufficient to protect against unanticipated losses and to
comply at all times with the capital requirements set out in the Act.

The Credit Union measures the adequacy of capital using two methods:

 Total capital as a percent of assets.

 Total capital as a percent of risk-weighted assets. Under this method, the Credit Union reviews its loan portfolio and

other assets and assigns a risk weighting using definitions and formulas set out in the Act. The more risk associated

with an asset, a higher weighting is assigned. This method allows the Credit Union to measure capital relative to the

possibility of loss with more capital required to support assets that are seen as being higher risk.

The Credit Union management ensures compliance with capital adequacy through the following:

 Establishing policies for capital management, monitoring and reporting;

 Establishing policies for related areas such as asset liability management;

 Reporting to the Board of Directors regarding financial results and capital adequacy;

 Reporting to the Deposit Guarantee Corporation of Manitoba on its capital adequacy; and 
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 Establishing budgets and reporting variances to those budgets.

The Regulations to the Act require that the Credit Union establish and maintain a level of capital as follows:

2018 2017

Members' equity not less than 5% of assets %5.58 %5.67
Retained surplus not less than 3% of assets %3.85 %3.80
Members' equity not less than 8% of the risk weighted value of assets %13.70 %12.90

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Credit Union has complied with the capital requirements. There have been
no changes to what the Credit Union considers capital during the year.

The Credit Union manages its capital as calculated below: 

2018 2017

Members' shares 35,005,257 30,119,218
Retained surplus 76,775,367 69,798,772
Contributed surplus 10,451,883 -

Capital 122,232,507 99,917,990

21. Pension plan

The Credit Union has a defined contribution pension plan for qualifying employees. The Credit Union matches employee
contributions at a rate between 5% and 10% of the employee's salary.

The expense and payments for the year ended December 31, 2018 are $668,896 (2017 - $591,609) and are recorded as
personnel expenses. As a defined contribution pension plan, the Credit Union has no further liability or obligation for future
contributions to fund benefits to plan members.

22. Fair value measurements

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the statement of financial position are measured and classified in a hierarchy
consisting of three levels for disclosure purposes; the three levels are based on the priority of the inputs to the respective
valuation technique. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). An asset or liability's classification within the
fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of significant input to its valuation. The input levels are defined as follows:

 Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

 Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active or inputs that are observable either directly (i.e., as prices) or

indirectly (i.e derived from prices). Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for assets in markets that are considered less

active. Assets measured at fair value and classified as Level 2 include interest rate swaps. Members' loans receivable,

investments and members' savings and deposits are disclosed at fair value based on a level 2 classification.

 Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and are significant to the estimated fair

value of the assets or liabilities. Level 3 assets and liabilities would include financial instruments whose values are

determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for

which the determination of estimated fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation.

The Credit Union considers a fair value measurement to have transferred between the levels in the fair value hierarchy on
the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were no transfers between fair value
hierarchy levels.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value
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The Credit Union’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position on a recurring basis
have been categorized into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

2018
in 000's Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets
Funds on hand and on deposit 42,666 42,666 - -
Interest rate swaps 10 - 10 -
Credit Union Central of Manitoba term deposits 146,675 146,675 - -
Shares in Credit Union Central of Manitoba 8,445 - 8,445 -

Total financial assets 197,796 189,341 8,455 -

2017
in 000's Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets
Funds on hand and on deposit 50,548 50,548 - -
Credit Union Central of Manitoba term deposits 98,011 98,011 - -
Shares in Credit Union Central of Manitoba 8,996 - 8,996 -

Total financial assets 157,555 148,559 8,996 -

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instrument 135 - 135 -

Total financial liabilities 135 - 135 -

Non-recurring fair value measurements

The Credit Union’s non-recurring fair value measurements have been categorized into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

2018
in 000's Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets
Members' loans receivable 1,753,328 - 1,753,328 -
Municipal debentures 3,956 - 3,956 -

Total financial assets 1,757,284 - 1,757,284 -

Financial liabilities
Members' savings and deposits 1,796,540 - 1,796,540 -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 6,690 - 6,690 -
Loan payable 10,000 - 10,000 -
Securitization liabilities 99,059 - 99,059 -

Total financial liabilities 1,912,289 - 1,912,289 -

2017
in 000's Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
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Financial assets
Members' loans receivable 1,386,929 - 1,386,929 -
Municipal debentures 4,666 - 4,666 -

Total financial assets 1,391,595 - 1,391,595 -

Financial liabilities
Members' savings and deposits 1,391,561 - 1,391,561 -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7,887 - 7,887 -
Loan payable 75,000 - 75,000 -
Securitization liabilities 36,052 - 36,052 -

Total financial liabilities 1,510,500 - 1,510,500 -

The most significant assumption in the above fair value determinations relates to the discount rates utilized. If the discount
rates would increase by 100 basis points then the fair value of assets would decrease by approximately $29,499,000 and
the fair value of liabilities would decrease by approximately $10,464,000. A corresponding decrease of 100 basis points
would result in the fair value of assets increasing by approximately $29,891,000 and the fair value of liabilities would
increase by approximately $10,717,000.

23. Financial instruments

The Credit Union, as part of its operations, carries a number of financial instruments which result in exposure to the
following risks: credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk.

Accordingly, the Credit Union has established avoidance of undue concentrations of risk, hedging of risk exposures, and
requirements for collateral to mitigate credit risk as risk management objectives. In seeking to meet these objectives, the
Credit Union follows risk management policies approved by its Board of Directors.

The Credit Union's risk management policies and procedures include the following:

 Ensure all activities are consistent with the mission, vision and values of the Credit Union

 Balance risk and return

 Manage credit, market and liquidity risk through preventative and detective controls

 Ensure credit quality is maintained

 Ensure credit, market, and liquidity risk is maintained at acceptable levels

 Diversify risk in transactions, member relationships and loan portfolios

 Price according to risk taken, and

 Using consistent credit risk exposure tools.

The Board of Directors are involved in financial instrument risk management oversight.

There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the Credit Union’s risks to which it is exposed or its
general policies and procedures for managing risk. 

Credit risk  

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from the failure of a borrower or counterparty to honour its financial or
contractual obligations to the Credit Union. Credit risk primarily arises from members’ loans receivable. 
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Risk management process

Credit risk management is integral to the Credit Union’s activities. Management is responsible for developing and
implementing the credit risk management practices of the Credit Union. Management carefully monitors and manages the
Credit Union's exposure to credit risk by reviewing member credit extension policies and guidelines and reviewing the
performance of loan portfolios, including default events and past due state. The risk management process starts at the time
of a member credit application and continues until the loan is fully repaid. The primary credit risk management policies and
procedures include the following:

 Loan security (collateral) requirements

 Security valuation processes, including method used to determine the value of real property and personal property when

that property is subject to a mortgage or other charge

 Maximum loan to value ratios where a mortgage or other charge on real or personal property is taken as security

 Borrowing member capacity (repayment ability) requirements

 Borrowing member character requirements

 Limits on aggregate credit exposure per individual and related parties

 Limits on concentration of credit risk by loan type, industry and economic sector

 Limits on the types of credit facilities and services offered

 Internal loan approval processes and loan documentation standards

 Loan re-negotiation, extension and renewal processes

 Processes that identify adverse situations and trends, including risks associated with economic, geographic and industry

sectors

 Control and monitoring processes including portfolio risk identification and delinquency tolerances

 Timely loan analysis processes to identify, access and manage delinquent and impaired loans

 Collection processes that include action plans for deteriorating loans

 Overdraft control and administration processes

 Loan syndication processes.

The Credit Union’s credit risk policies, processes and methodologies are reviewed periodically to ensure they remain
relevant and effective in managing credit risk.

To meet the needs of its members and to manage its own exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, the Credit Union
participates in various commitments and contingent liability contracts. The primary purpose of these contracts is to make
funds available for the financing needs of customers. These are subject to normal credit standards, financial controls, risk
management and monitoring procedures.

The Credit Union makes the following instruments available to its members:

 Guarantees and standby letters of credit representing irrevocable assurances that the Credit Union will pay if a member

cannot meet their obligations to a third party.

 Commitments to extend credit representing unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans

(including lines of credit), guarantees or letters of credit.

Inputs, assumptions and techniques

Definition of default and assessments of credit risk

Financial instruments are assessed at each reporting date for a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
This assessment considers changes in the risk of a default occurring at the reporting date as compared to the date of initial
recognition. 

The Credit Union considers members' loans receivables to be in default when contractual payments are more than 90 days
past due or other objective evidence of impairment exists, such as notification from the borrower or breach of major
covenants. This definition is consistent with the definitions used for the Credit Union’s internal credit risk management
practices.
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Changes in credit risk are assessed on the basis of the risk that a default will occur over the contractual lifetime of the
financial instrument rather than based on changes in the amount of expected credit losses or other factors. In making this
assessment the Credit Union takes into account all reasonable and supportable information, including forward-looking
information, available without undue cost or effort. The Credit Union considers past due information of its balances and
information about the borrower available through regular commercial dealings, such as requests for loan modifications. 

The credit risk of a financial instrument is deemed to have significantly increased since initial recognition when contractual
payments have exceeded 30 days past due, or other information becomes available to management (e.g., through the
course of regular credit reviews, communication with the borrower or forecasting processes which consider macroeconomic
conditions expected to have a future impact on borrowers). When a financial instrument is considered to have low credit
risk, it is assumed that there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 

The Credit Union identifies credit-impaired financial assets through regular reviews of past due balances and credit
assessments of its customers. Credit-impaired financial assets are typically placed on the Credit Union's watch list based on
its internal credit risk policies. In making this assessment, the Credit Union considers past due information of its balances
and information about the borrower available through regular commercial dealings.

Measurement of expected credit losses

The Credit Union measures expected credit losses for members' loans receivables on a group basis. These assets are
grouped on the basis of their shared risk characteristics such as loan type (residential mortgages, commercial mortgages,
other secured loans or non-secured loans). Otherwise, expected credit losses are measured on an individual basis.

When measuring 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, the Credit Union considers items such as the contractual
period of the financial asset or the period for which the entity is exposed to credit risk, determination of appropriate discount
rates used in incorporating the time value of money, assumptions about prepayments, timing and extent of missed
payments or default events, probabilities of default and other assumptions and inputs used in calculating the amount of
cash shortfalls depending on the type or class of financial instrument. Forward-looking information is incorporated into the
determination of expected credit loss by considering regional economic journals and forecasts, collecting information
available from regular commercial dealings with its customers and other publicly available information and considering the
effect such information could have on any assumptions or inputs used in the measurement of expected credit losses,
determining significant increases in credit risk or identifying a credit-impaired financial asset. 

Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions are required when calculating the expected credit losses of financial
assets. In measuring the 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, management makes assumptions about
prepayments, the timing and extent of missed payments or default events. In addition, management makes assumptions
and estimates about the impact that future events may have on the historical data used to measure expected credit losses. 

Write-offs

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The Credit Union assesses that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery when the security relating to the loan has been sold and there are remaining
amounts outstanding, the borrower has filed for bankruptcy and the trustee has indicated that no additional funds will be
paid. 

Exposure to credit risk

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets assessed for impairment under IFRS 9
Financial instruments (2018) and IAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement (2017). The amounts in the
table, unless otherwise indicated, represent the assets’ gross carrying amount. For loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts committed or guaranteed, respectively.
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The gross carrying amount members' loans receivable and exposure amount of loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts represents the maximum exposure to credit risk for that class of financial asset.

2018

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL
(not credit
impaired)

Lifetime ECL
(credit

impaired) Total

Members' loans receivable 1,707,783,104 59,213,097 7,854,160 1,774,850,361
Loan commitments 192,025,179 - - 192,025,179

Total gross carrying amount 1,899,808,283 59,213,097 7,854,160 1,966,875,540
Less: loss allowance 1,833,838 700,223 495,157 3,029,218

Total carrying amount 1,897,974,445 58,512,874 7,359,003 1,963,846,322

2017
Total

Members' loans receivable 1,395,211,859

Total gross carrying amount 1,395,211,859
Less: loss allowance 3,195,401

Total carrying amount 1,392,016,458

Concentrations of credit risk

Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of borrowers are exposed to similar economic risks by being engaged in
similar economic activities or being located in the same geographical region, and indicate the relative sensitivity of the
Credit Union's performance to developments affecting a particular segment of borrowers or geographical region.
Geographical risk exists for the Credit Union due to its primary service area being Selkirk, Manitoba and surrounding areas.

Amounts arising from expected credit losses

Reconciliation of the loss allowance

The following tables show a reconciliation of the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by class of financial
instrument. Comparative amounts for 2017 represent the allowance account for credit losses measured under the
requirements of IAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement.

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL
(not credit
impaired)

Lifetime ECL
(credit

impaired) Total

Members' loans receivable

Balance at January 1, 2018 1,724,846 1,024,871 445,684 3,195,401
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 108,992 (324,648) 49,473 (166,183)

Balance at December 31, 2018 1,833,838 700,223 495,157 3,029,218
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Market risk

Market risk arises from changes in interest rates that affect the Credit Union's net interest income. Exposure to this risk
directly impacts the Credit Union's income from its loan and deposit portfolios. The Credit Union's objective is to earn an
acceptable net return on these portfolios, without taking unreasonable risk, while meeting member needs.

Risk measurement

The Credit Union's risk position is measured and monitored each month to ensure compliance with policy. Management
provides monthly reports on these matters to the Board of Directors.

Objectives, policies and processes

Management is responsible for managing the Credit Union's interest rate risk, monitoring approved limits and compliance
with policies. The Credit Union manages market risk by developing and implementing asset and liability management
policies, which are approved and periodically reviewed by the Board of Directors.

The Credit Union's goal is to achieve adequate levels of profitability, liquidity and safety. The Board of Directors reviews the
Credit Union's investment and asset liability management policies periodically to ensure they remain relevant and effective
in managing and controlling risk. See Note 25 to additional information on the asset liability matching policy.

The following table illustrates the contractual repricing and maturity of all financial instruments:

in '000s On demand
Within one

year
One to five

years
Greater than

5 years
Non-Interest

Sensitive
Total
2018

Total
2017

Assets
Cash 34,621 - - - 8,045 42,666 50,548
Investments and accrued
interest - 155,430 2,274 1,171 207 159,082 111,673
Members' loans
receivable and accrued
interest 176,418 344,238 1,185,102 65,910 153 1,771,821 1,392,016
Derivative financial
instrument - 10 - - - 10 -

211,039 499,678 1,187,376 67,081 8,405 1,973,579 1,554,237

Liabilities
Member deposits and
accrued interest 958,761 470,035 367,295 449 - 1,796,540 1,390,141
Loan payable - 10,000 - - - 10,000 75,000
Accounts payables and
accrued liabilities - 112 - - 6,578 6,690 7,887
Derivative financial
instrument - - - - - - 135
Securitization liabilities - 12,923 86,100 - - 99,023 38,315

958,761 493,070 453,395 449 6,578 1,912,253 1,511,478
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The following provides the potential before tax impact on an immediate and sustained 1% increase or decrease in interest
rates on the Credit Union's net interest income for a one year period. All interest rate risk measures are based upon interest
rate exposures at a specific time and continuously change as a result of business activities and our risk measurement
initiatives.

Before tax impact of: 

1% increase in rates $1,895,000 decrease in financial margin

1% decrease in rates $1,819,000 increase in financial margin

Interest sensitive assets and liabilities cannot normally be perfectly matched by amount and term to maturity. The Credit
Union may utilize interest rate swaps to assist in managing this rate gap.

Foreign currency risk

Currency risk relates to the Credit Union operating in different currencies and converting non-Canadian earnings at different
points in time at different foreign exchange rates when adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates occur.

The Credit Union’s foreign exchange risk is related to deposits and loans denominated in United States dollars. Foreign
currency holdings are monitored by management and holdings are adjusted when offside of the investment policy.

Risk Measurement

The Credit Union's position is measured weekly. Measurement of risk is based on the mismatch of assets and liabilities
denominated in United States dollars.

Objectives, Policies and Procedures

The Credit Union limits its mismatch of deposits and loans held to 10% of this portfolio.

For the years-ended 2018 and 2017, the Credit Union's exposure to foreign exchange risk complies with the policy.

There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the exposure to risk or policies, procedures and methods
used to measure the risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of having insufficient financial resources to meet the Credit Union's cash and funding requirements,
statutory liquidity requirements, or both.

Risk measurement

The assessment of the Credit Union's liquidity position reflects management's estimates, assumptions and judgment
pertaining to current and prospective market conditions and the related investing and borrowing activities of members.

Objectives, policies and processes

The acceptable amount of risk is defined by policies that are approved by the Board of Directors.

The Credit Union manages liquidity by monitoring, forecasting and managing cash flows and the concentration of loans and
deposits within approved policies. Management provides monthly reports on these matters to the Board of Directors.

Key features of liquidity management include:
• Daily monitoring of expected cash inflows and outflows and tracking and forecasting the liquidity position; and
• Consideration of the term structure of loans and deposits, with emphasis on deposit maturities, as well as expected loan
funding and other commitments to ensure the Credit Union can maintain required levels of liquidity, while meeting its
obligations.
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Key management compensation of the Credit Union

Key Management Personnel ('KMP') of the Credit Union are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any Director.

2018 2017

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 2,301,767 2,573,290
Post-employment benefits 134,687 73,766

Transactions with Key Management Personnel

Loans made to KMP are approved under the same lending criteria applicable to members. KMP may receive concessional
rates of interest on their loans and facilities. These benefits are subject to tax with the total value of the benefit included in
the compensation figures below.

There are no loans that are impaired in relation to loan balances with KMP.

There are no benefits or concessional terms and conditions applicable to the family members of KMP. There are no loans
that are impaired in relation to the loan balances with family or relatives of KMP.

Directors, committee members, management and staff

Transactions with Directors, committee members, management and staff are at terms and conditions as set out in the loan
policies of the Credit Union.

Loans to Directors (and their spouses) that received beneficial interest rates as at December 31, 2018 amounted to $nil
(2017 - $nil) for a total benefit of approximately $nil (2017 - $nil).

Loans to Directors and staff as at year end amounted to 1.44% (2017 - 4.13%) of total assets of the Credit Union. 

Directors’ fees and expenses

2018 2017

Directors fees and committee remuneration 143,070 174,428
Meeting, training and conference costs 68,496 54,396

Credit Union Central of Manitoba

The Credit Union is a member of the Credit Union Central of Manitoba, which acts as a depository for surplus funds
received from and loans made to credit unions. The Credit Union Central of Manitoba also provides other services for a fee
to the Credit Union and acts in an advisory capacity.

Interest and dividends earned on investments during the year ended December 31, 2018 amounted to $2,510,537 (2017 -
$2,655,948).

Interest and charges paid on borrowings during the year ended December 31, 2018 amounted to $326,612 (2017 -
$13,536).

Payments made for affiliation dues, liquidity assessment, research and development assessment, cheque clearing and data
processing for the year ended December 31, 2018 amounted to $1,538,157 (2017 - $1,092,274).

Interest earned on the current account during the year amounted to $435,789 (2017 - $328,072).

Deposit Guarantee Corporation of Manitoba

The Deposit Guarantee Corporation of Manitoba (DGCM) is a deposit insurance corporation which guarantees the deposits
of all members of Manitoba credit unions. The payments made to the DGCM during the year represent the net statutory
annual assessment in the amount of $1,231,787 (2017 - $1,099,458).
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25. Asset liability matching

The Credit Union's major source of income is financial margin which is the difference between interest earned on
investments and loans to members and interest paid to members on their deposits. The objective of managing the financial
margin is to match re-pricing or maturity dates of loans and investments and members' savings and deposits within policy
limits that are intended to limit the Credit Union's exposure to changing interest rates and to wide fluctuations of income
during periods of changing interest rates. The differential represents the net mismatch between members' loans and
investments and members' savings and deposits for those particular maturity dates. Certain items on the statement of
financial position, such as non interest bearing member deposits and equity do not provide interest rate exposure to the
Credit Union.  These items are reported as non interest rate sensitive on the schedule.

Amounts with variable interest rates, or due on demand, are classified as variable.

A significant amount of members' loans receivable and members' savings and deposits can be settled before maturity on
payment of a penalty.  No adjustment has been made for repayments that may occur prior to maturity.

Assets Liabilities and
equity

2018 Differential

Interest sensitive:
Variable 418,239,149 863,978,544 (445,739,395)
Less than 12 months 415,625,702 457,026,971 (41,401,269)
1 to 2 years 301,879,461 191,391,046 110,488,415
2 to 3 years 314,423,230 66,989,209 247,434,021
3 to 4 years 250,739,302 105,026,832 145,712,470
4 to 5 years 232,814,157 29,392,391 203,421,766
Over 5 years 13,785,903 1,643,541 12,142,362
Non interest rate sensitive 90,698,095 322,756,465 (232,058,370)

2,038,204,999 2,038,204,999
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26. Commitments and guarantees

Loans

The Credit Union has authorized $280,700,555 in line of credit loans, of which $168,788,091 has not been advanced as of
year end. In addition, $23,237,088 in members' loans have been authorized but have not been advanced as of the year
end.

Leases

The Credit Union is committed to the following minimum payments for premises under the terms of leases which expire in
July 2020 and April 2023:

Not later than one year    39,000

Later than one year but not later than five years  121,000

Later than 5 years       4,000

The Credit Union is committed to receive the following minimum payments for premises under which it is the lessor:

Not later than one year 1,108,000

Later than one year but not later than five years 2,643,000

Later than 5 years 2,130,000

Director and officer indemnification

The Credit Union indemnifies its directors and officers against any and all claims or losses reasonably incurred in the
performance of their service to the Credit Union to the extent permitted by law. The Credit Union has acquired and
maintains liability insurance for its directors and officers.

27. Other income

Other income consists of:
2018 2017

Services charges, fees, and commissions 7,904,325 7,062,515
Insurance commissions 3,586,724 3,264,783
Rental revenue 1,615,583 1,477,664

13,106,632 11,804,962

28. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to match current year presentation.
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